**RECEIVED**

**May 26 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
FRANK R. ADDY, Presiding Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001315  
Civil Action No. 2022-CP-10-05192

---

South Carolina Coastal Conservation League and Charleston Waterkeeper, ..... Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Leslie S. Lenhardt, Esq., S.C. Bar No. 15858  
Amy E. Armstrong, Esq., S.C. Bar No. 70352  
Monica K. Whalen, Esq., S.C. Bar No. 106638  
S.C. Environmental Law Project  
510 Live Oak Drive  
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Circuit Court err in granting partial summary judgment to the Department of Environmental Services on the grounds that the South Carolina Coastal Tidelands and Wetlands Act does not require it to review individual septic permits in the coastal zone for consistency with the binding policies of its coastal management program?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is on appeal from the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas in granting summary judgment to Respondent, South Carolina Department of Environmental Services (“DES” or “the Department”), on the grounds that the Coastal Tidelands and Wetlands Act does not require a Coastal Zone Consistency Certification (“CZC”) for individual small septic tanks designed for peak flows less than 1,500 gallons per day.

This action was filed on November 10, 2022 against the Department pursuant to the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, S.C. Code Section 15-53-10, et seq. (R. pp. 22-84). Appellants filed a motion for preliminary injunction, which was denied on January 4, 2024. (R. pp. 100-543;1-3). On July 19, 2024 and July 31, 2024, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. pp. 560-798).

On May 30, 2025, the Circuit Court granted partial summary judgment in favor of the Department, concluding that the Department’s application of a 1500-gallon-per-day minimum threshold before requiring a CZC Certification is a legitimate exercise of authority. **Cir. Court Order** at 4.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 18). Appellants sought reconsideration on July 25, 2025, which was denied on October 27, 2025. This appeal followed.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court granted partial summary judgment to Appellants on another issue in this case on July 14, 2025. (Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, Honorable Frank Addy, Case No. 2022-CP-10-05192, July 14, 2025)

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The applicable standard of review on questions of law involving statutory interpretation is *de novo*. See *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007). The issue of interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the court. *Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995) (stating “[t]he determination of legislative intent is a matter of law.”) As such, this Court is free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court. *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000).

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Through this appeal, Appellants seek review of the Circuit Court’s Order upholding the Department’s failure to follow the plain language of the Coastal Tidelands and Wetlands Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-10 et seq. (“Act”), which requires it to review all state and federal permits for consistency with South Carolina’s Coastal Management Program (“CMP”). S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11). Specifically, the Act mandates that the Department “review all state and federal permits in the coastal zone, and to certify that these do not contravene the management plan.” *Id.*

The Department has failed to undertake this mandatory CZC review for individual on-site wastewater systems, also known as, and referred to herein, as septic tanks or septic systems. The Department has been issuing, and will continue to issue, septic system permits for individual dwellings within large residential developments that are sited in close proximity to the State’s coastal waterways, without regard for their density or cumulative impacts of such systems on the surrounding coastal environment. As a result of the Department’s failure to give any consideration to these sensitive coastal areas or the cumulative and long-range impacts from such authorizations,

our coastal waters have become degraded by septic effluent contamination; such degradation harms the environment, as well as Appellants' members and other members of the public who utilize the vulnerable natural resources that abound within the coastal zone.

The Department's failures place public health at risk and expose our state's waterways, marshes, beaches, and fisheries to significant, documented harms that can be traced to untreated sewage from malfunctioning, ill-maintained, and/or ill-placed septic systems.

Appellant organizations, Coastal Conservation League ("the League"), Charleston Waterkeeper ("Waterkeeper"), and their members have significant, particularized, and concrete interests in the application of the South Carolina Coastal Tidelands and Wetlands Act, which is designed to protect sensitive coastal resources. The League routinely seeks to prevent or reduce endangerment to human health and the natural environment resulting from activities within the eight coastal counties. *See, e.g., S.C. Coastal Conserv. League v. S.C. Dep't Health & Env'tl. Control*, 434 S.C. 1 (2021); *Kiawah Dev. Partners v. S.C. Dep't Health & Env'tl. Control*, 411 S.C.16 (2014); *Spectre v. S.C. Dep't Health & Env'tl. Control*, 386 S.C. 357 (2010). Waterkeeper similarly seeks to prevent and reduce such harms, specifically in Charleston County. *See, e.g., Charleston Waterkeeper v. Frontier Logistics*, 488 F.Supp.3d 240 (D.S.C. 2020).

Appellants' members live near, recreate on, fish from, and regularly use the coastal waters in South Carolina, and specifically the waters and wetlands in and around Bulls Bay in Awendaw, Cape Romain National Wildlife Refuge, James Island Creek, Shem Creek and numerous other waterbodies within the Coastal Zone that have been or will be impacted by the use of septic systems. One such development, incorporated into this claim by reference and later discussed in

more detail,<sup>2</sup> concerns the White Tract development. *S.C. Coastal Conserv. League v. S.C. Dep't Health & Envtl. Control & Pulte Homes, LLC*, No. 2025-000379 (Ct. App. Sept. 4, 2025).

## I. RISKS OF SEPTIC SYSTEMS IN COASTAL AREAS

Conventional septic systems treat human waste from individual homes and businesses. They have two primary components: the septic tank and the drainfield. The tank filters out solid wastes which collect within the tank; the rest (“effluent”) is released into the septic drainfield, which is simply the soil surrounding the tank. The soils within the drainfield naturally filter out bacteria, viruses, and nutrients from the septic effluent as it percolates through the soil before making its way to ground and surface waters. **Memorandum in Support of Appellants’ Motion for Summary Judgment**, p. 2. (R. p. 564).

Proper functioning of septic systems is highly dependent upon unsaturated soil within the drainfield, adequate soil type and characteristics, sufficient distance between drainfield and water tables, and the size of the drainfield. Multiple soil surveys by the United States Department of Agriculture highlight this fact: “Clayey or wet soils are poorly suited to use as septic tank absorption fields” and “there must be unsaturated soil material beneath the absorption field to filter the effluent effectively[.]”<sup>3</sup> “Suitability of a soil for septic tanks and sewage-disposal fields depends mainly on its permeability, its depth to water table, and the hazard of flooding. . . . Soils that have a high water table or are likely to be flooded have severe limitations as sites for sewage-

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant CCL has another related claim against the Department that is pending appeal by this Court. The arguments presented in *South Carolina Coastal Conservation League v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and Pulte Homes LLC* concerning the Department’s failures to properly review individual on-site septic tanks for consistency with the Act and accompanying Coastal Management Program policies are substantively similar. As such, Plaintiffs intend to consolidate the two claims for this Court’s consideration.

<sup>3</sup> Motion for Summary Judgment p. 2 (R. pp. 564-565), United States Dep’t of Agriculture, et al., *Soil Survey of Dorchester County, South Carolina* (1990) at 51, available at <https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CZIC-s599-s58-e64-1990/html/CZIC-s599-s58-e64-1990.htm> (last visited on Nov. 21, 2025).

disposal fields. . . . [T]he site chosen for construction may be of such limited extent that it will not provide a disposal field of sufficient size to serve the structure that is to be built.”<sup>4</sup>

Septic systems can malfunction for a variety of reasons. **Appellants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, Ex. A**, Aff. of Dr. Jane Harrison (R. pp. 132-213); *see also id.* at **Ex. S**, Centers for Disease Control & Prevention, et al., *Healthy Housing Reference Manual* (2006) at 10-10. (R. p. 540). Although recent data is not available because the Department does not maintain a septic tank inventory of any kind, the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) has estimated that at least twenty percent of septic systems in the United States are malfunctioning to some degree. *See id.* at **Ex. E**, Env’tl. Protec. Agency, *Stormwater Best Management Practice*, EPA-832-F-21-029E (2021). (R. pp. 653-659). The Department estimates that ten to thirty percent of septic systems fail to work properly in an average year. *Id.* at **Ex. D**, S.C. Dep’t Health & Env’tl. Control, *Nonpoint Source Management Plan 2020-2024* (2019) at 15. (R. pp. 629).

Malfunctioning septic systems can result in discharges of pathogen-laden human waste and other pollutants into the environment. Human exposure to untreated septic effluent presents public health risks, including disease, infection, and other illnesses. *See id.* at **Ex. A**, Aff. of Dr. Jane Harrison. (R. pp. 132-213). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”) state that “proper maintenance of septic tanks is a public health necessity. Enteric diseases such as cryptosporidiosis, giardiasis, salmonellosis, hepatitis A, and shigellosis may be transmitted through human excrement.” *Id.* at **Ex. S**, CDC et al., *Healthy Housing Reference Manual* (2006) at 10-1 (R. p. 531).. Accordingly, the EPA has identified the performance of septic systems as a “national issue of great concern.” *Id.* at **Ex. G**, *Voluntary National Guidelines for Management of*

---

<sup>4</sup> Motion for Summary Judgment p. 3 (R. p. 565 ), United States Dep’t of Agriculture, et al., *Soil Survey: Charleston County, South Carolina* (1971) at 58, available at <https://nrcs.app.box.com/s/mtk8vlsftgkni0wgt9cez4qonc0fbj0a/file/982760970135> (last visited on Nov. 21, 2025).

*Onsite and Clustered (Decentralized) Wastewater Treatment Systems*, EPA 832-B-03-001 (2003). (R. pp. 380-386). The Department itself made the same findings when it promulgated its septic regulations:

A major factor influencing the health of individuals where public wastewater treatment facilities are not available is the proper onsite treatment and disposal of domestic wastewater. Diseases such as dysentery, cholera, infectious hepatitis, typhoid, and paratyphoid are transmitted through the fecal contamination of food, water, and the land surface largely due to the improper treatment and disposal of domestic wastewater. For this reason, every effort should be made to prevent such hazards and to treat and dispose of all domestic wastewater through the practical application of the most effective technology available.

S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-56.100(1).

The CDC cites failing septic systems as one of the most common sources of well water contamination,<sup>5</sup> and untreated effluent from malfunctioning septic systems is widely understood to be a major source of surface water contamination in degraded water bodies. *See id.* at **Ex. A**, Aff. of Dr. Jane Harrison. (R. pp. 132-213). The Department routinely acknowledges the same. For example, the Coastal Management Program (“CMP”) provides that “the major negative impact associated with sewage treatment systems is potential water quality degradation from effluent discharge[.]” CMP III-60; *see also id.* at **Ex. D**, S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, *Nonpoint Source Management Plan 2020-2024* (2019) at 15 (stating “[i]mproperly functioning septic systems can be a significant source of NPS [nonpoint source] pollution, particularly in rural areas.”). (R. p. 629). Further, the Department has acknowledged the contribution of untreated septic effluent as part of its analysis of factors that contribute to the well-documented degraded water quality in James Island Creek. *See id.* at **Ex. F**, S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, *Total*

---

<sup>5</sup> **Appellants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, Ex. G**, Centers for Disease Control & Prevention, *Well Siting and Potential Contaminants* (2009). (R. pp. 765-766).

*Maximum Daily Load - James Island Creek*, Technical Doc. No. 002-2020 (2019) at 17-18, 26 (discussing failing septic systems as a nonpoint source of pollution in James Island Creek, and estimating the number of existing septic systems within the James Island Creek watershed to be significantly higher than surrounding areas). (R. pp. 684-685;693).

Risks of septic malfunction abound in the coastal zone. Septic systems rely on deep, dry soils to properly filter effluent; low-lying coastal areas with shallow groundwater tables, however, are often not suited for this purpose. Soils in the coastal zone are more prone to saturation due to flooding, coastal storms, storm surge, heavy rainfall, seasonal variances, and sea level rise; further, all of these conditions raise groundwater levels, which can quickly overwhelm septic systems. *See id.* at **Ex. A**, Aff. of Dr. Jane Harrison (R. pp. 132-213); *see also id.* at **Ex. C**, Aff. of Sharon Richardson. (R. pp. 313-325).

Despite the fact that federal and state policy and law have repeatedly recognized and emphasized the unique, sensitive nature of coastal areas, and despite an enormous body of scientific literature identifying the risks and harms of septic pollution on coastal waterbodies, the Department affords no special consideration of septic systems in the coastal zone, which is particularly problematic in large planned residential developments. Instead, DHEC treats applications throughout the state—from the mountains to the coast—exactly the same. This means, for example, that a septic-dependent development system installed in a neighborhood in rural Richland County must meet the same minimal depth and soil requirements as a septic system placed in low-lying areas along the coast. This approach ignores stated federal and state policy regarding the unique nature of coastal areas<sup>6</sup> as well as recognized best management practices for

---

<sup>6</sup> *See* S.C. Coastal Tidelands and Wetlands Act of 1977, S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-20 & 30.

septic tanks. *See id.* at **Ex. A**, Aff. of Dr. Jane Harrison (R. pp. 132-213); *see also id.* at **Ex. C**, Aff. of Sharon Richardson. (R. pp. 313-325).

The State’s coastal waterways are not meeting applicable water quality standards for safe recreational use. *See id.* at **Ex. B**, Aff. of Andrew Wunderley. (R. pp. 214-312). Further, many of the State’s shellfish harvesting areas are not meeting the applicable water quality standards for human consumption of fish and shellfish, resulting in restricted or prohibited shellfish harvesting classifications.<sup>7</sup> This degradation in water quality is correlated with malfunctioning septic systems from nearby residential developments. *See id.* at **Ex. B**, Aff. of Andrew Wunderley. (R. pp. 214-312). The case studies of James Island Creek and Shem Creek provide cautionary tales of how septic systems installed decades ago, and presumably properly functioning at the beginning of their functional life, eventually fail and wreak havoc on Charleston’s coastal waterways, prompting swimming advisories and closures to shellfish harvesting. *See id.* at **Ex. B**, Aff. of Andrew Wunderley. (R. pp. 214-312).

## **II. INCREASED PREVALENCE OF LARGE-SCALE SEPTIC-DEPENDENT PROJECTS IN THE COASTAL ZONE**

The historic use of clustered residential septic systems near coastal waterways has a well-documented history of long-term impacts to water quality. The CMP document itself identifies that “[i]ndividual systems such as wells and septic tanks are adequate where development is limited, *but can have major environmental impacts in densely populated areas.*” CMP III-60 (emphasis added). Further, the CMP document directs the Department’s Bureau of Coastal Management to authorize septic installations in the coastal zone only for “*low density residential*

---

<sup>7</sup> Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 567-568), SCDHEC Conditional Shellfish Harvest Closure Application, available at <https://sc-dhec.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=f305d270358e426da4e4d9f4c1653df0> (last visited Feb. 27, 2023); *see also* SCDHEC Shellfish Maps, available at <https://scdhec.gov/food-safety/retail-food/shellfish-monitoring-program-overview/shellfish-maps> (last visited Feb. 27, 2023).

developments *when they are designed properly* and *soils are adequate*[.]” CMP III-16 (emphases added). Despite this, the Department continues to permit the installation of thousands of densely-placed septic systems, all while skirting coastal zone consistency review.

Increasing development in the coastal zone has long been identified as a problem, even as far back as the inception of the Act—forty-five years ago—when the General Assembly found that “increasing and competing demands upon the lands and waters of our coastal zone occasioned by population growth and economic development . . . have resulted in the decline or loss of living marine resources, wildlife, nutrient-rich areas, [and] permanent and adverse changes to ecological systems[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-20. Indeed, the CMP (1979) cautioned that “[u]rbanization of coastal areas results in greater discharge rates [of domestic sewage] and the estuary and nearshore waters may continue to be the ultimate jump [sic] of sewage and slump discharges in the foreseeable future.” CMP IV-96.

Today, this problem has never been more true. Although specific data sets are unavailable due to the lack of historic and current septic system placement records, we know that South Carolina relies more heavily on septic systems for household waste treatment than other states; up to 50% of residents in North and South Carolina rely on onsite wastewater treatment systems, many of which are already concentrated near the coast. *See Appellants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, Ex. A*, Aff. of Dr. Jane Harrison. (R. pp. 132-213). Further, coastal counties in South Carolina are experiencing unprecedented population growth. As a result, many tracts identified for large-scale residential development are located outside of municipal sewer service, meaning that developers—often tract builders—are turning to septic for wastewater treatment. These septic-dependent developments—often tract houses—tend to share the common characteristics of high density and small parcel size (less than a one acre, even as small as 0.15 acres), meaning that

a large percentage of the developed land is actually comprised of septic drainfields. *See id.* at **Ex. R.** (R. pp. 524-527).

As aforementioned, the White Tract development exemplifies a proposed septic-reliant development in an area of great resource value. It is also, as stated, pending before this court in a separate but related claim. The White Tract is located on 233.45 acres of wetlands and forested land in Awendaw, contemplates 204 single-family homes, all serviced by individual septic systems, with lots ranging in size from 0.325 acres to 0.934 acres. The property extends to the Intracoastal Waterway and is directly adjacent to both the Cape Romain National Wildlife Refuge, which is composed almost entirely of barrier islands, salt marsh, and coastal waters, and the Francis Marion National Forest. As of the date of this appeal, White Tract has received various permits from the Department, including 44 individual septic tank permits and a stormwater permit for Phase I of its development. *Coastal Conservation League v. SCDES & Pulte Homes*, Appellate Case No. 2025-000379; *Friends of Coastal South Carolina v. SCDES & Pulte Homes*, ALC Docket No. 25-ALJ-07-0013-CC.

### **III. THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 48-39-80 AND THE CMP**

Recognizing that the coast of our state has particular environmental vulnerabilities, the South Carolina General Assembly enacted the Coastal Tidelands and Wetlands Act, S.C. Ann. §§ 48-39-10 et seq., (the “Act”) in 1977. The General Assembly found that “the coastal zone... may be ecologically fragile and consequently extremely vulnerable to destruction by man’s alterations.” S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-20(D). It further cautions that “[i]mportant ecological, cultural, natural, geological and scenic characteristics, industrial, economic and historical values in the coastal zone are being irretrievably damaged or lost by ill-planned development that threatens to destroy these values.” S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-20(E).

The General Assembly declared the basic state policy “to protect the quality of the coastal environment and to promote the economic and social improvement of the coastal zone and of all the people of the State” and “[t]o encourage and assist state agencies, counties, municipalities and regional agencies to exercise their responsibilities and powers in the coastal zone through the development and implementation of comprehensive programs to achieve wise use of coastal resources giving full consideration to ecological, cultural and historic values as well as to the needs for economic and social development and resources conservation.” S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-30(1) and (5).

The Act further directs the Department to create two distinct regulatory programs: (1) a permitting program applicable to all uses and alterations of the coastal zone's “critical areas” where the Department has direct permitting authority (S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-130); and (2) a review and certification program, applicable throughout the coastal zone, through which the Department reviews all permits applications for consistency with the CMP policies (S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)). Section 48-39-80(B)(11) specifically provides that the Department “*shall* develop a system whereby the department *shall* have the authority to review *all* state and federal permit applications in the coastal zone, and to certify that these do not contravene the management plan. For individual navigable waters permits for docks located in the eight coastal counties but outside of critical areas, a coastal zone consistency certification is deemed approved if certification review is not completed within thirty days of an administratively complete application.” (emphasis added). This mandate gave rise to the Coastal Zone Consistency (“CZC”) review and certification process, which functions as a safeguard to ensure that proposed activities in the coastal zone align with the Act’s policies and the objectives of the CMP.

The CMP has been recognized by the Supreme Court as having the force and effect of a regulation. *See Spectre, LLC v. S.C. Dep't. of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 386 S.C. 357, 360, 688 S.E.2d 844, 845 (2010) (declaring that “the language of § 48–39–80 supports DHEC's view that the General Assembly meant the CMP policies themselves to be enforceable in the consistency review of state and federal permits.”).

The CMP contains policies that directly and indirectly relate to septic tank permitting. Notably, the CMP dictates that “[i]n review and certification of permit applications in the coastal zone, OCRM will be guided by the following general considerations:

- (1) [t]he extent to which the project will further the policies of the South Carolina General Assembly which are mandated for OCRM in implementation of its management program;
- (3) [t]he extent to which the project will protect, maintain or improve water quality;
- (7) [t]he possible long-range, cumulative effects of the project, when reviewed in the context of other possible development and the general character of the area.”

*Id.* at III-4 (selected clauses for relevance), CMP III-14.

The CMP directs DES' Bureau of Coastal Management to authorize septic installations in the coastal zone only for “*low density residential developments when they are designed properly and soils are adequate* to insure against pollutants leaching into surface or groundwater resources.” CMP III-6(1)(a) (emphasis added). Further, “[s]eptic tanks must be situated a safe distance from the shoreline to ensure proper drainage and filtering of the tank effluents before they reach the water’s edge with special attention given in identified erosion areas.” *Id.* In coastal areas or regions with high water tables, like the South Carolina Lowcountry, dense developments relying on individual septic systems are particularly vulnerable to flooding and malfunctioning systems,

increasing the risk of water pollution. However, DES effectively ignores all of these enumerated policies for a swath of septic tanks, so long as they individually are small enough.

### **ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court wholly adopted DES's assertion that it has the discretion to decide which permits are subject to coastal zone consistency review. Such a ruling is contrary to (1) the clear and unambiguous language of the Act; (2) the legislative framework, including the S.C. Coastal Tidelands and Wetlands Act, the CMP polices and, more broadly, the federal Coastal Zone Management Act; and (3) the Department's own findings regarding the importance of carefully regulating the treatment of human waste in the coastal zone.

The Circuit Court found that that "the Department did in fact 'consider all lands and waters in the coastal zone for planning purposes' and further finds that the Department determined that requiring a CZC Certification for *all* septic tank permits and 'small' onsite wastewater systems was unnecessary to establish adequate environmental protections." **Cir. Court Order** at 4. (R. p. 18). The Circuit Court held that the Department need not review and certify permits for septic tanks with flow rates less than 1,500 gallons per day ("gpd") for consistency with the CMP because the CMP itself exempts such permits. CMP V-5, Table 1. (R. p. 947). However, the statutory text does not contain any exemption for septic tank permits below the 1,500 gpd threshold. In fact, when the Legislature chose to create specific limitations on coastal zone consistency review, it did so explicitly. Section 48-39-30(B)(11) provides that for "navigable waters permits for docks located in the eight coastal counties ... a coastal zone consistency certification is deemed approved if certification review is not completed within thirty days of an administratively complete application." No other exemption from certification review exists in the Act.

Under the CMP policies, a CZC review includes evaluating “the long-range, cumulative effects of the project, when reviewed in the context of other possible development and the general character of the area.” CMP III-14. The Circuit Court’s ruling excuses DES from reviewing applications for septic systems for dense residential developments in the coastal zone against any of the above considerations. Instead, the Department’s only evaluation of septic tanks is whether the applicant has met minimum requirements for septic system installations that are used statewide, with the exception of one provision requiring a setback from the critical area. *See* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-56. In other words, the special considerations for development projects within our fragile coastal ecosystems that the General Assembly aimed to achieve through the Act are being systematically ignored when small septic systems are sought. This problem is compounded particularly with high-density developments where no consideration is given despite the collective significant volumes of sewage associated with the dozens or hundreds of such systems.

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