RECEIVED

May 26 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

The Honorable Frank R. Addy
Presiding Judge

Civil Action No. 2022-CP-10-05192

Appellate Case No.: 2025-001315

South Carolina Coastal Conservation League
and Charleston WaterkeeperAppellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Environmental ServicesRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Bradley D. Churdar, SC Bar No. 12829
Joseph A. Giordano, SC Bar No. 104500
South Carolina Department of
Environmental Services
2600 Bull Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Tel.: (803) 898-7286
Bradley.Churdar@des.sc.gov
Joseph.Giordano@des.sc.gov
Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court Properly Held that the Coastal Zone Management Program Document’s (“CMP”) Limitation on the Department’s Exercise of Its CZC Certification Authority Based on the Capacity of the Wastewater System Is Consistent with the Directive in S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) that the Department “Develop A System” Giving the Department the Power to Review Coastal Zone Permits.

S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) says that “[i]n devising the management program the department shall consider all lands and waters in the coastal zone for planning purposes. In addition, the department shall ... [d]evelop a system whereby the department shall have the authority to review all state and federal permit applications in the coastal zone, and to certify that these do not contravene the management plan.” (Emphasis added).³

Appellants assert that S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) “is clear and unambiguous and the Department’s rogue decision to unilaterally exempt certain permits, specifically small onsite wastewater permits, from coastal zone consistency review exceeds its statutory authority.” App. Br. at 14. According to the Appellants, this statutory clarity presumably imposes on the Bureau of Coastal Management a mandatory duty to conduct a CZC review for every septic tank permit issued, regardless of whether the septic tank flow rate is 1 gallon per day or 1,500 gallons per day⁴ or higher. Such an interpretation and application of S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) is flawed and is not in accord with the plain meaning of the words of the statute.

The Appellants focus on the use of the word “shall” in S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B) without convincingly explaining how the Circuit Court erred in its statutory construction analysis of that same word and how it is used in the statute. The Appellants argue that because “the General Assembly repeatedly uses mandatory language in its directive to create the CMP and to provide

³Appellant argues that because S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) uses the word “shall” three times, this “emphasiz[es] the General Assembly’s directive that the agency must undertake coastal zone consistency review.” (App. Br. at 13).

⁴ See Table 1 at CMP V-5.

for a review process,”⁵ when S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) states that the Department “shall develop a system,” they contend that the only acceptable system is one that includes a CZC Certification analysis for every septic permit application regardless of the septic tank flow rate. (App. Br. at 15). According to the Appellants’ slippery slope argument, any other interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) would allow the Department to “simply refuse to review any and all permits in the coastal zone without legal consequence.” App. Br. at 17. This is patently untrue. The Department cannot ignore the Coastal Zone Management Plan (including the 1,500-gpd minimum threshold) after it was approved by the General Assembly and the Governor.

Judge Addy correctly stated the following on page 2 of his April 29, 2025 Form 4 Order: “[t]his Court concurs with the reasoning of Judge Durden. This Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the General Assembly when it has spoken unequivocally. ‘Shall have authority to review’ is permissive language and does not create an affirmative obligation to review every septic permit in the Coastal Management Zone.”⁶

“[S]hall develop a system” per the statute is not synonymous with “shall conduct a CZC review for every septic tank permit application, regardless of the daily flow rate.” In complying with the requirement of S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11) to “develop a system,” the Department did in fact “consider all lands and waters in the coastal zone for planning purposes” and determined

⁵ App. Br. at 15.

⁶ Judge Durden addressed this same issue in another case currently on appeal before this Court (Appellate Case No. 2025-000379) in which, the Department notes for this Court’s awareness, a Motion to Consolidate was filed on December 5, 2025, to consolidate that appeal with this matter. Judge Durden correctly opined that when “Section 48-39-80(B) states the Department shall create a system whereby the Department ‘shall have the authority to review’ all permit applications in the coastal zone ... the plain meaning of ‘authority’ does not impose a requirement to exercise power, but the right to.” (R. p. 007; (Order Granting Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment p. 4)). (Emphasis added). Accordingly, “the intention of the General Assembly as conveyed by the plain language of section 48-39-80(B) is that the Department must create a system whereby it has the right to exercise power over permit applications in the coastal zone.” (R. p. 007; (Order Granting Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment p. 4)).

that only septic tank permit applications above the 1,500 gpd minimum threshold required a CZC Certification decision to establish adequate environmental protections.⁷ The Department created such a system with the Coastal Zone Management Program Document, which after approval by the General Assembly and the Governor, became “the final management plan for the State’s coastal zone.” S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 48-39-90(D).

Contrary to Appellants’ argument, the Department’s minimum threshold is not an illegitimate exercise of authority that produces “rogue” decisions. App. Br. at 14. In fact, had the Department exercised CZC certification authority below the minimum threshold, that would have been an illegitimate exercise of authority. In Spectre, the Supreme Court held that the Coastal Zone Management Program Document, inclusive of Table 1, is “enforceable” as adopted. Id., 386 S.C. 357, 370, 688 S.E.2d 844, 850 (2010). The Department’s establishment of this minimum threshold takes into account the comprehensive framework of system standards, permit procedures, minimum conditions, and other requirements designed to safeguard the environment and public health from potential wastewater discharges. See S.C. Code Ann. R. 61-56. Stated another way, the Coastal Zone Management Program Document is simply “filling up the details” of the statutory mandate. The Supreme Court said that “[w]hile the Legislature may not delegate its power to make laws, in enacting a law complete in itself, it may authorize an administrative agency or board ‘to fill up the details’ by prescribing rules and regulations for the complete operation and enforcement of the law within its expressed general purpose.” McNickel's Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 331 S.C. 629, 634, 503 S.E.2d 723, 725 (1998) (citing Heyward v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 240 S.C. 347, 126 S.E.2d 15 (1962)).⁸

⁷ See Table 1 at CMP V-5.

⁸ In Spectre, the Supreme Court confirmed that the Coastal Zone Management Program Document was approved by the General Assembly and the Governor and has the force of law just as the statutes and regulations. Id. at 369-370.

The Appellants ask this Court to exercise authority that the Supreme Court held is beyond its power to do; namely “to effect a change in the statutes enacted by the Legislature.” Key Corp. Cap., Inc. v. Cnty. of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 59, 644 S.E.2d 675, 677 (2007) (quoting State v. Corey D., 339 S.C. 107, 120, 529 S.E.2d 20, 27 (2000); see also Keyserling v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 83, 86, 470 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1996) (this Court does “not sit as a superlegislature to second guess the wisdom or folly of decisions of the General Assembly”)). “[A] court’s equitable powers must yield in the face of an unambiguously worded statute.” Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1998).

The Circuit Court correctly found that in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80, “the Department did in fact ‘consider all lands and waters in the coastal zone for planning purposes’ and further finds that the Department determined that requiring a CZC Certification for all septic tank permits and ‘small’ onsite wastewater systems was unnecessary to establish adequate environmental protections. Instead, the Department established a 1500-gallon-per-day minimum threshold for CZC Certifications. See Table 1 at CMP V-5.” (Page 4 of Judge Addy’s May 30, 2025 Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment).⁹

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent South Carolina Department of Environmental Services respectfully requests that the Court affirm the decision of the Circuit Court partially granting the Department’s Motion for Summary Judgment and partially denying Appellants’ Motion for Summary Judgment.

⁹ Judge Durden addressed this same issue stating that “[t]he CMP’s limitation on the Department’s exercise of its power to review based on the capacity of the wastewater system is not inconsistent with the General Assembly’s intent that the Department create a streamlined system giving the Department the power to review coastal zone permits.” (R. p. 008 (Order Granting Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment p. 5)).